
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

If you are reading these papers on an electronic device you have saved the Council £11.33 and 
helped reduce the Council’s carbon footprint. 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 

Adults and Safer City Scrutiny 
Panel 
20 July 2021 

 
Time 
 

6.00 pm Public Meeting? YES Type of meeting Scrutiny 

Venue 
 

Council Chamber 

Membership 
 

Chair Cllr Val Evans (Lab) 
Vice-chair Cllr Sohail Khan (Con) 
 

Labour Conservative  

Cllr Qaiser Azeem 
Cllr Olivia Birch 
Cllr Rashpal Kaur 
Cllr Rupinderjit Kaur 
Cllr Lynne Moran 
Cllr Anwen Muston 
Cllr Jacqueline Sweetman 
 

Cllr Simon Bennett 
Cllr Stephanie Haynes 
 

 

Quorum for this meeting is three Councillors. 
 

Information for the Public 
 

If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the Scrutiny Team: 

Contact Earl Piggott Smith 
Tel/Email 01902 551251 email:earl.piggott-smith@wolverhampton.gov.uk 
Address Scrutiny Team, Civic Centre, 1st Floor, St Peter’s Square, 

Wolverhampton WV1 1RL 
 

Copies of other agendas and reports are available from: 
 

Website  http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/  

Email democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk  

Tel 01902 555046 

 

Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports 
are not available to the public. 

http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Agenda 

Page 2 of 2 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Agenda 
 

Part 1 – items open to the press and public 
 
Item No. Title 

 
1 Welcome and Introductions  
 [The Chair to welcome everyone to the meeting.]  

 

2 Meeting procedures to be followed  
 [The Chair will explain how the meeting will proceed, how questions are to be asked 

and any matters of meeting etiquette.] 
 

BUSINESS ITEMS 
 
3 Apologies  
 

4 Declarations of Interest  
 

5 Minutes of previous meeting (Pages 3 - 8) 
 

DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 
6 Principal Social Worker Annual Report 2020 - 2021 (Pages 9 - 28) 
 [Jennifer Rogers, Principal Social Worker, to present report] 

 

7 Mandatory Vaccinations for Social Care Homes (Pages 29 - 38) 
 [Becky Wilkinson, Deputy Director Adult Services, to present report] 

 

8 Adults and Safer City Scrutiny Panel 2021-2022 Draft Work Programme (Pages 
39 - 48) 

 [Earl Piggott-Smith, Scrutiny Officer, to present report] 
 



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 

Adults and Safer City Scrutiny 
Panel 
Minutes - 16 March 2021 

 

Attendance 
 

Members of the Adults and Safer City Scrutiny Panel 
 
Cllr Olivia Birch 
Cllr Val Evans (Chair) 
Cllr Sohail Khan 
Cllr Asha Mattu 
Cllr Lynne Moran 
Cllr Anwen Muston 
Cllr Zee Russell 

 
In Attendance 
Cllr Linda Leach                                                  Cabinet Member for Adults 
 
Employees  
Courtney Abbott Quality and Improvement Advanced 

Practitioner for Children and Adults 
Emma Bennett 
Earl Piggott-Smith 
Martin Stevens 
Julia Cleary 

Director of Children and Adult Services 
Scrutiny Officer 
Scrutiny Officer 
Scrutiny and Systems Manager 

Jennifer Rogers Principal Social Worker (Interim) 
Becky Wilkinson Deputy Director Adult Services 

 
 

 

Part 1 – items open to the press and public 
 

Item No. Title 

 
1 Welcome and Introductions 

Cllr Val Evans, Chair, welcomed everyone to the virtual meeting and advised it was 
being live streamed to the press and public. Cllr Evans advised that she was not 
expecting any exempt or restricted items on the agenda. A recording of the meeting 
would be available for viewing on the Council’s website at a future date. 
 

2 Meeting procedures to be followed 
Cllr Evans explained the protocol to be followed during the meeting for asking questions 
and reminded everyone that microphones should be muted and cameras off, unless they 
have been invited to speak. Earl Piggott-Smith, Scrutiny Officer, invited all attendees to 
introduce themselves to confirm they were present at the meeting. 
 
Please note that the following officers and presenters were also in attendance at the 
meeting 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item No: 5



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Emma Bennett 
Becky Wilkinson 
Jennifer Rogers 
Courtney Abbott 
Martin Stevens 
Earl Piggott Smith 
Julia Cleary 
Cllr Linda Leach - Cabinet Member for Adults 
 

3 Apologies 
Apologies were received from the following members of the panel: 

 

 Councillor Rupinderjit Kaur   

 Councillor Simon Bennett 
 

4 Declarations of Interest 
There were no declarations of interest recorded. 
 

5 Minutes of previous meeting (19.1.2021) 
The panel members voted and approved the minutes of the meeting held on 19 
January 2021 as being a correct record. 
 

6 Matters arising 
There were no matters arising from the minutes. 
 

7 Adult Social Work Health Check 2020 
The Chair invited Cllr Linda Leach, Cabinet Member for Adults, to introduce the 
agenda items 7 and 8. The Cabinet Member wanted to formally record her thanks to 
all social workers and social care staff on the World Social Work Day who worked so 
hard during the pandemic. The Cabinet Member praised their dedication and efforts 
to support families. 
 
The Chair invited Courtney Abbott, Quality and Improvement Advanced Practitioner 
for Children and Adults, and Jenny Rogers, Principal Social Worker Adult Services, 
to give their presentation and report to the panel for pre-decision scrutiny. 
 
The Quality and Improvement Advanced Practitioner gave an overview of the 
background to the findings of the Social Work Health Check survey annual report 
2020. The health check survey is done annually as part of Wolverhampton Council’s 
ongoing self-assessment. The survey is completed online.  
 
The findings from the heath check will inform Workforce Development Planning and 
also support the continuous improvement of Adult Social Work in Wolverhampton. 
The survey allows social workers to have their say on different aspects of what it is 
like to work for the City of Wolverhampton Council. The presentation would focus on 
findings from three key areas – workload manageability, staff wellbeing, an equality 
and diversity and panel would be invited to comment on these areas. 
 
The panel were advised that the survey took place between 2 November and the 14 
December 2020, which coincided with the start of the second national lockdown 
which may have affected the response rate. The survey was open to all registered 
social workers and social work students working in a social work capacity with an 

Page 4



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

adult services include agency workers as well. In total 65 responses were received, 
which is a 52% response rate. The response rate was slightly lower compared to the 
previous year when the rate was 65%.  
 
The panel were advised that deadline for submitting responses was extended and 
employees were encouraged to take the opportunity to complete the survey form if 
they wished.  
 
The Quality and Improvement Advanced Practitioner advised the panel that in terms 
of workload manageability it was reported that overall case workloads decreased 
slightly since last year and according to local information the average casework is 20. 
The number of session workers who said their workload is unmanageable has 
slightly increased by 3% when compared to the previous year survey findings  The 
increase was considered to be due to the impact of Covid 19 and the challenges that 
this has posed to the workforce. 
 
The Quality and Improvement Advanced Practitioner advised the panel that there 
had been a considerable increase in the number of social workers who reported 
having regular supervision sessions. The Quality and Improvement Advanced 
Practitioner commented that a concern highlighted about the quality of supervision 
related to the career development. 
 
The issue will be addressed through the introduction of professional conversations 
and the new supervision policy, which was introduced in February 2021. The updated 
policy details the issues managers need to consider within supervision sessions, 
such as workload manageability. The panel were advised of other measures to 
respond to the concerns about workload and the highlighted the importance of 
regular supervision in ensuring the social worker workloads are manageable.  
 
The implementation of a new social care system called Eclipse later in the year is 
also expected to help streamline current processes and reduce the amount of time 
that social workers spend completing forms. 
 
The Quality and Improvement Advanced Practitioner commented on the responses 
to issues related to equalities and diversity and the number who reported that there 
had examples of where they felt unfairly treated on the grounds of the protected 
characteristics. The Quality and Improvement Advanced Practitioner commented on 
the key actions to aimed at addressing this issue, including the commissioning of 
training to support group conversations around issues of equality, diversity, and 
inclusion.  
 
In addition, the Council is also commissioning No offence training sessions, which 
will be supported by promotion of the safe space workers so they can report any 
serious concerns in confidence. The service is also recruiting equalities champions 
within each social work team. In January 2021 there was specific training for social 
workers on anti-discriminatory practice and a further session on anti-oppressive 
practice will be commissioned for later in the year. 
 
The panel thanked the presenters for their presentation.  
 
The panel queried about the wellbeing and mental health support offered to social 
workers and the level of take-up of current support services. The panel were 

Page 5



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

concerned that some social workers may be reluctant to raise issues or ask for help 
because of stigma attached to mental illness. 
 
Jenny Rogers, Principal Social Worker, advised that she does not have numbers on 
the take up of services, this might be available from HR. The Principal Social Worker 
advised the panel that the issue of wellbeing is a key part of the work being done to 
support social workers, such as the promotion and activities linked to World Social 
Work Day. There is a commitment from the Director to managers to support social 
workers and also encouraging people to take screen breaks and hopes that people 
feel able to ask for help with a mental health issue. There is an acceptance however, 
that more work the service can do to promote the range of support available and 
include the issue of wellbeing in everyday conversations to reduce stigma about the 
issue. 
 
The panel asked the work being done to review and refresh the range of help 
available to assess what works and what does not work and also new ideas such as 
mindfulness courses. The Principal Social Worker responded that the service is 
constantly reviewing the take up of wellbeing sessions. The panel discussed the take 
up of support from the Employee Assistance Scheme. 
 
The panel queried the reported increase in the number of part time social workers 
working more than 10 hours over their contracted hours on average.  
 
The Principal Social Worker responded that managers have been made aware of the 
importance of discussing workload issues in supervision meetings and suggested 
that issue could be added as a question to next year’s survey as it would be 
interesting to know the reasons why people are working more than their contracted 
hours. 
 
The panel commented that it would be difficult to get an overall view of what social 
workers experiences with a low response rate of 52% and suggested that more 
positive engagement is needed to encourage more people to complete the survey 
and to see it is a priority for the service. The panel highlighted the importance of 
getting more responses to future surveys. 
 
The panel queried the survey finding that 26% of social workers reported that there 
were not satisfied with the quality of their supervision. The panel welcomed the 
measures outlined in the introduced to respond to this issue. 
 
The Principal Social Worker welcomed the feedback and acknowledged that there 
was room for improvement and in particular to get more social workers to complete 
the survey form, while at the same time recognising the challenges of remote 
working. There was a commitment to increase the survey response rate, for example 
encouraging managers to allow social workers to leave meetings early in order to 
complete the survey form and reviewing the numbers of questions. 
 
The panel thanked the presenters again for the report.  
 
Resolved: 
 

Page 6



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

1. The panel endorsed the comments of the Cllr Leach Cabinet Member for 
Adults about the professionalism and dedication shown by the social workers 
during the pandemic. 
 

2. The panel agreed to receive a progress report on the impact of planned and 
current actions in response to the issues highlighted in the survey findings to a 
future meeting of the panel. 

 
8 Adult Social Care Workforce Health Check 2020 

Courtney Abbott, Quality and Improvement Advanced Practitioner, presented the 
findings from the survey of adult social care workforce. The panel were advised that 
the survey is done annually looking at different areas of practice, how improvements 
can be made and also what is being done well in regard to social work practice in 
Wolverhampton. 
 
The survey was extended this year to include the wider workforce of non-Social Work 
qualified workers as part of efforts to support the continuous improvement of Adult 
Social Care in Wolverhampton.  
 
The panel were advised that they would be asked to comment and ask questions on 
three specific areas from the survey findings – workload management, staff wellbeing 
and equality and diversity. The survey was undertaken between 2 November and 14 
December 2020 and all grade five and grade six non-Social Work qualified staff, 
working directly with people with care and support needs, were invited to take part. 
 
The Advanced Practitioner advised the panel that there was a 33% response rate to 
the survey, which was slightly lower than last year. In total 100 responses were 
received. The Advanced Practitioner gave a brief summary of the findings from each 
of the three areas to the panel and added that information has given a much more 
rounded picture of adult services as a whole.  
 
A decision was made last year to continue doing a separate survey in recognition of 
the different roles, but many of the actions and findings are similar to the previous 
report. 
 
The panel thanked the presenter for the report. 
 
The panel queried the details about workforce retention figures for the service and if 
there was a view of what good in this situation would look like. The panel also 
queried if there was a target set to measure progress of the service that would 
provide a ‘barometer’ about what was working well.  The panel suggested a target 
would be helpful in understanding this issue better and assessing progress over time. 
 
The Advanced Practitioner accepted of the value in having a better understanding of 
what a good service looks like and discussed of useful benchmarks for the service 
that would show this.  The Advanced Practitioner gave the example when thinking 
about supervision and wishing to see 100 % of people getting regular good quality 
supervision. This would be a challenge to achieve as the nature of social work 
practice may mean the planned supervision sessions may have to be cancelled or 
rearranged to meet the needs of the service or in response to a crisis.  A figure of 
90% would be perhaps a more realistic target. The Advanced Practitioner agreed to 

Page 7



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

discuss this further with neighbouring authorities to see if there was any consensus 
about the issue and how it could be quantified. 
 
The Principal Social Worker added that there are regular meetings with other 
principal social workers in the region, which provide opportunities to share good 
practice across the region and also to create resources, such as health checks. The 
benefits of comparing performance locally and nationally and sharing learning was 
highlighted, but also there was acknowledgement of not wanting to lose local 
intelligence provided from the annual social work surveys. 
 
The panel commented on the positive benefits of working directly with colleagues in 
a face to face situation which provides a good source of support and networking 
opportunities which can help address some of the issues highlighted in the survey 
responses. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Adults wanted to formally record her thanks for the work 
and support provided to her by the Principal Social Worker and Advanced 
Practitioner. 
 
Emma Bennett, Director of Children and Adult Services, endorsed the comments and 
also highlighted the work done to support them both presenters in their respective 
roles. The Director welcomed the focus on the issue of health and wellbeing across 
the Council especially during the pandemic and commented on the work planned to 
social work staff in the future. The service is looking at developing a wellbeing 
framework to support all social work staff. 
 
The panel thanked the presenters for their report. 
 
Resolved: 
 
The panel agreed to note the report. 
 

Page 8



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

 

 

Cabinet 
28 July 2021 

 

Report title Principal Social Worker Annual Report 
2020-2021 

 Decision designation AMBER  

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility 

Councillor Linda Leach - Adults 

Key decision Yes 

In forward plan Yes 

Wards affected All Wards 

Accountable Director Emma Bennett, Children’s and Adult Services 

Originating service Adults and Children’s Service 

Accountable employee Jennifer Rogers Principal Social Worker 
Tel 01902 555704 
Email Jennifer.rogers@wolverhampton.gov.uk 

 
Report has been 
considered by 
 

Directorate Leadership Team 
Strategic Executive Board           
Adults and Safer City 
Scrutiny Panel 

17 June 2021 
1  July 2021 
14 July 2021 
 

Recommendations for decision: 

The Cabinet is recommended to:  

1. Endorse the work of the Principal Social Worker and the continued impact it has on 

social work practice across Children’s and Adult’s Services 

2. Endorse the main priorities for the Principal Social Worker identified for 2021-2022. 

 

Recommendation for noting: 

The Cabinet is asked to note: 

1. The work carried out in respect of: Care Act easements; audit activity, which has 

highlighted continued strong performance and practice during Covid; and the continued 

commitment to supporting social work students and routes into social work which is 

ensuring the Council is able to meet demand and supply needs now and for the future. 

  

Page 9

Agenda Item No: 6



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

1.0 Purpose 

1.1 To provide a progress report on the work of the Principal Social Worker in promoting and 

improving the quality of social work practice and outline the key priorities for 2021-2022. 

2.0 Background 

2.1 Designated Principal Social Workers (PSW) were first proposed by Professor Eileen 

Munro in her review of child protection in 2011, which identified the importance of better 

communication and understanding between social workers and senior management. 

Munro stated that Principal Social Workers should: 

A. Create a clear line of communication between frontline staff and senior 

management 

B. Champion best practice  

C. Encourage a “reflective approach” to social work 

D. Help to reduce bureaucracy and the amount of time spent on process-driven 

activities 

E. Support social workers to use their core skills and interventions which make a 

real difference to people. 

2.2 Following this, the College of Social Work championed the extension of the role to 

include adult social work.  As with the children’s Principal Social Worker (PSW), the role 

of the PSW for adults also takes a professional lead across the organisation. 

 

2.3 The role of PSW is a statutory requirement in adults and is referenced in the 2016 

revised Care Act guidance. The guidance states that the PSW should be visible across 

the organisation, from elected members and senior management, through to frontline 

social workers, people with care and support needs and carers.  It states that Local 

Authorities should make arrangements to have a qualified and registered social work 

professional practice lead in place to lead and oversee excellent social work practice and 

the development of excellent social workers. This also includes overseeing quality 

assurance and improvement of social work practice as well as advising the Director of 

Adult Social Services (DASS) and/or wider council in complex or controversial cases and 

on law relating to social work practice. 

 

2.4 Working Together to Safeguard Children (2018) states that children and families PSWs 

have a key role in developing the practice and practice methodology that underpins direct 

work.  

 

2.5 There has been a PSW for both Adults and Children’s Services since March 2016. Due 

to the previous post holder’s successful appointment to a Head of Service role during 

2020-2021 the PSW post was temporarily split this year into separate adults and 

children’s PSWs. However, from February 2021 a permanent appointment was made to 

the joint PSW role.  

Page 10



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

 

2.6 The decision to appoint one PSW for Adults and Children’s Services was informed by a 

commitment to promote and embed a whole family / think family approach in 

Wolverhampton. Over the last six months Adult’s and Children’s Services have been 

working more closely together to reinvigorate this commitment and the PSW role is 

crucial to this. The PSW works across the two services to promote a “think whole family 

approach” that will enable better joined up working, inspire greater aspirations for 

children, families and adult’s with care and support needs, as well as ensuring the 

concept of wellbeing features in all of the work undertaken by social care.  

 

2.7 The PSW role links to several of the Relighting Our City priority areas including 

supporting people who need us most, creating more opportunities for young people and 

also generating more jobs and learning opportunities in relation to the social work 

profession particularly, with the internal social work degree apprenticeships being an 

example of this. Strengths based approaches in social work also encourage a focus on 

community resources and building on the assets available locally to support families and 

people who need us, so there is also a role for the PSW in stimulating vibrant high 

streets and local communities.  
 

2.8 The PSW reports directly to a Head of Service with a dotted line to the Deputy Directors 

of Adults and Children’s Services. The work of the PSW is overseen and prioritised by 

the People’s Social Work Development Board. A degree of independence is required of 

the role in order to provide challenge within the organisation.  

 
2.9 The regional and national networks of PSWs also provide information to the Chief Social 

Workers for adults and children’s and regular consultations are held in respect of issues 

such as social worker health checks, knowledge and skill statements, accreditation, 

legislation, practice and learning developments.  

3.0 Progress 

3.1 The PSW in Wolverhampton has key responsibility for policies and procedures and the 

Quality Assurance and Improvement team. The function of this unit is to implement and 

further develop the quality assurance frameworks for Adult and Children’s Services, to 

support inspections and peer review work and support sector led improvement 

programmes. The PSW also has responsibility for the recruitment and retention of social 

workers. 

3.2 This year because of Covid the PSW has played a key role in ensuring statutory duties 

have continued to be met whilst also supporting social worker’s wellbeing and ensuring 

their safety whilst they carried out their critical frontline role. There has also been a focus 

on the role of the PSW and social work generally in tackling inequality and practising in 

an anti-discriminatory and anti-racist way as a result of the Black Lives Matter movement 

and the murder of George Floyd in May 2020. 

Page 11



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

3.3 Highlights of the work undertaken by the PSWs since March 2020 is outlined below. 

3.4 Covid 

3.5 Wellbeing has been a priority throughout the year because of Covid and has been 

promoted at social worker and workforce briefings led by the PSWs during 2020-2021. 

This has included at your desk yoga sessions and discussion about “the five ways to 

wellbeing”. There was also a wellbeing café during World Social Work Day in March 2021 

facilitated by the PSW’s team. Monthly newsletters have continued to be sent out by the 

PSW’s team across both Adults and Children’s Services, but now have a dedicated 

wellbeing section. There has also been continued promotion of the council’s Wellbeing 

Hub with access to a large selection of resources to support wellbeing, mental health and 

other issues such as bereavement and financial worries. The PSW has provided content 

and reviews the domestic abuse section for the council’s Wellbeing Hub and was a part 

of the” Operational Wellbeing group” in the council. There has been an extensive training 

offer for individuals and managers to support wellbeing during Covid and there will be a 

focus on wellbeing and recovery / resilience in 2021-2022. The Peer Challenge process 

in October 2020 highlighted and commended how the emotional well-being of staff had 

been prioritised during Covid. 

3.6  During the pandemic the PSW took a lead on Care Act easements as a result of the 

Coronavirus Bill which became law on 25th March 2020 (Coronavirus Act 2020). The 

measures it contained enabled adult social care to prioritise resources, if necessary, 

should they be unable to meet their statutory duties in full if demand spiked and staffing 

resources shrank significantly during the pandemic. The government gave adult PSWs a 

critical role in determining whether councils should suspend Care Act duties and enact 

these measures (easements). Locally the PSW devised local guidance that set out the 

possible scenarios which adult social care in Wolverhampton could face during the 

period of the pandemic, what operating models would look like at each stage and what 

should have been explored before easements were considered and implemented. The 

City of Wolverhampton Council’s approach was that Care Act easements should only be 

implemented as a last resort and only when all other options and alternatives, including 

utilising any other available resource, had been explored.  

3.7 The PSW carried out a short local consultation and produced an easy read version of the 

local Care Act easement guidance to engage local people about the approach the council 

proposed to take on Care Act easements. Local organisations and groups as well as 

carers and people with care and support needs and also employees participated. The 

vast majority agreed with the local approach to Care Act easements. Some comments 

included:  “I consider this to have been thorough and well thought-through”; “The fact that 

Wolverhampton are consulting on this issue is exemplary.  You put some of your near 

neighbours to shame.” 

3.8 In total eight local authorities across the country made the decision to implement 

easements during the pandemic, five of which were local authorities in the West Midlands 

Page 12



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

region. However, the City of Wolverhampton Council have not had to enact Care Act 

easements at any time during the pandemic.  

3.9 The PSW has supported the implementation of the Children’s Services operational model 

during Covid in response to the change in legislation “The Adoption and Children 

(Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations” and responded to government consultations. 

This has been a prominent role during Covid-19 ensuring that senior managers are kept 

abreast of the changes to ensure that service delivery is in line with guidance and 

legislation. 

3.10 The PSW also supported social work teams to consider legal and human rights 

challenges during this unprecedented time, leading on a session at a social work briefing 

in July 2020 with particular consideration of people in care homes and their rights to 

respect for family and private life and also the right to life in the context of restrictions and 

infection risks. Additional training has also been offered to support teams to consider 

human rights and inequality issues. The external Peer Challenge that took place in 

October 2020 (see section 3.18) concluded that there was a “visible commitment across 

teams and the system to social justice, protection of human rights.” 

3.11 The PSWs have led on key guidance and policies to support and safeguard the health 

and wellbeing of social workers across adults and children’s during Covid. This has 

included procedures on visits and use of PPE.  

3.12 Quality of Practice - Adults 

3.13 A key priority for adult PSWs in the government’s Winter Plan for Adult Social Care was 

to ensure that throughout the pandemic social work teams were applying legislative and 

strengths-based frameworks. The Winter Plan also called on PSWs to review their 

current quality assurance and governance oversight arrangements to ensure that winter 

and COVID-19 pressures did not reduce the ability to deliver high-quality social work 

practice. To support high quality practice in light of the challenges posed by Covid, the 

PSW co-ordinated eight reflective sessions during Summer 2020 which focussed on key 

areas of practice that teams said they felt had been affected.  

3.14 The PSW has continued to lead on quality assurance activity in adults during 2020-2021 

with audits evidencing that high quality social work practice and adherence to statutory 

duties has continued during Covid. There has only been a very slight overall drop in 

performance compared with last year, which was mainly due to practitioners adjusting to 

a different of working at the outset of the pandemic and reduced resources in the 

community which has made strengths-based working more of a challenge: 

Audit period Total% files rated good or above 

2019-2020 83% 

2020-2021 78% 
 

Page 13



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

 

3.15 In total 80 audits have been carried out this year, which means that by the end of March 

2021 almost 2% of people who received a service from adult social care in 

Wolverhampton will have had some form of qualitative audit in the year.   

3.16 Local audit activity throughout 2020-2021 has also demonstrated consistently good 

practice, including areas such as effective management oversight, demonstrating dignity 

and respect, Making Safeguarding Personal and use of advocacy as well as evidence of 

involving the person in decision making despite the impact of social distancing and a 

reduction in face to face visits.  

3.17 There has also been some improvement in specific areas of practice by the end of the 

year including increased consideration of carer conversations, which was a key area for 

development last year. There was also wider use of strengths-based approaches and by 

end of January 2021 over 90% of files were deemed good or outstanding in this area, 

which is more than last year.  

3.18 There was also an external audit carried out by PSWs from across the region, as part of 

a Practice Review, which is an element of the Peer Challenge Process which took place 

in October 2020. A Peer Challenge involves a small team of regional leads, PSWs and 

councillors spending time at another the council as peers to provide challenge and share 

learning. It is delivered from the position of a critical friend supporting sector led 

improvement. Onsite Peer Challenges are part of a wider offer of support and 

development work by the West Midlands ADASS Branch. They are improvement focused 

and the scope is agreed with the council and tailored to reflect their local needs and 

specific requirements. 

3.19 The Practice Review component of the Peer Challenge consisted of two external PSWs 

and the host PSW meeting with the Director of Adult Services, frontline workers and 

managers to gather feedback and also an audit of 21 files. The Practice Review team 

considered strengths-based practice and also the impact of Covid.  

3.20 All of the files examined by PSWs in the Practice Review were considered to be 

consistently good. There were no cases causing concern that needed to be returned for 

review. There was good evidence that strengths-based conversations were taking place 

and that they were outcome focused. The records evidenced the creativity of 

practitioners in meeting needs even during Covid. 

Page 14



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

 

3.21 The Practice Review Team considered that there was a clear practice model for 

strengths-based practice in place for Adult Social Care with the use of the Three 

Conversations ©. This approach is a new way of working that replaces the default 

‘contact, divert, triage, reablement, assessment for services’ process with a dynamic 

strength-based approach to listening to people, aimed at supporting independent lives, 

and reducing the need for dependence on formal services. It supports frontline 

employees to have three distinct and specific conversations. These conversations focus 

on helping people live what they feel is a good life, by utilising their own resource, 

resources within their local community and receiving formal support when required. 

3.22 Three Conversations© was rolled out in the City of Wolverhampton Council in May 2018 

with the creation of three innovations sites in Adult Social Care. Three evaluations have 

been carried out which have considered data, feedback from people and carers and also 

“stories of difference”. There is strong evidence that there has been an increase in 

productivity, with a reduction in the average number of working days taken to complete 

assessments when compared to old world, saving on average 28 days per assessment. 

Evaluations also found an increase in worker morale. 

3.23 Over 100 stories of difference were collected demonstrating improved outcomes 

compared to old ways of working. A common theme is that by being able to work with 

people straight away social workers were more likely to be able to put in effective 

preventative support and build effective relationships. 

3.24 The Practice Review team found that the Three Conversations© approach was 

understood and supported at every level and they were told by managers and 

practitioners that the way of working is “much better”. Practitioners told the reviewers that 

they had more autonomy, more responsibility and were engaged in decision making in 

‘huddles’ and the Practice Review Team considered that this was very positive.  

3.25 Some of the other more general key strengths identified by the Practice Review team 

included: 

A. Good support provided to practitioners and managers throughout the pandemic 

1.50%

80%

18.50%

0%
0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

Oustanding Good Requires Imp Inadequate

Ratings for all questions asked as part of the file audits 
- Practice Review September 2020

Page 15



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

B. Director and Principal Social Worker worked closely together on the public 

consultation and were well prepared for if the situation changed  

C. Added value of the Principal Social Worker in driving practice improvement 

3.26 The Peer Challenge process itself consisted of a series of 12 focus groups lead by 

Directors and leads from other local councils. Data was also considered. They concluded 

that the work on strengths-based practice is “something to be really proud of” and felt it 

held up across adult social care operations during Covid, with the principles and values 

expanding across the whole of the pathway including hospital social work.  

3.27 A key area for opportunity though was to continue to engage with staff and agree a 

balance for home and office working on an on-going basis, which will be a focus for 

2021-2022 corporately as well as from an individual service perspective.   

3.28 A quality assurance report and accompanying improvement plan is presented to the 

Adult Leadership team quarterly ensuring senior managers have oversight of the quality 

of frontline practice and are able to use this information to inform improvement actions.  

This will incorporate actions from all quality assurance activity, including any findings 

from the Peer Challenge process. 

3.29 Quality of Practice – Children’s 

3.30 Restorative Practice (RP) has been the overarching practice framework for Children’s 

Services since November 2016.  It is a strengths-based approach that is fundamentally 

about building, maintaining and repairing relationships.  It supports a strong relational 

way to delivering services, working with children and families, identifying strengths but 

also being able to effectively challenge where necessary. Whilst this approach is not new 

to most qualified social workers, it is powerful to have a unified way of working and 

language around intervention and support that is shared amongst colleagues.  

3.31 In June 2020 a Senior Restorative Practice (SRP) Lead was appointed to support the 

PSW in embedding RP across the service. The SRP lead is responsible for increasing 

the breadth and depth of knowledge and understanding of the range of Restorative 

Approaches across Children’s Services. The role includes developing best practice and 

helping to embed the approach internally and with partners. The SRP lead is now 

supporting in the delivery of family meetings training and is also working to incorporate 

RP into other key training and work carried out across Children’s Services, including key 

areas such as direct work and neglect. Multi-agency RP training is to be delivered across 

Children’s Services and partner agencies and six participants from Police, Health, 

Education and Voluntary Sector have been identified to act as champions for this. In total 

17 RP trainers that have been enlisted to support with embedding the approach.  

3.32 The Principal Social Worker has also been responsible for implementing the National 

Accreditation Process (NAAS), which involves assessing social workers against a set of 

standards set out in the Knowledge and Skills Statement for Practice Supervisors and 

Practice Leaders (now known as the post qualifying standards). This is part of the 

Page 16



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

Children and Social Work Act 2017 which gives the education secretary powers to set 

and assess practitioners against improvement standards. The NAAS assessment 

includes three elements: 

A. Employee endorsement – the employer’s assessment of the social worker or 

practice supervisor’s skills 

B. A digital assessment based on the child and family practitioner knowledge and 

skills statement produced by the Chief Social Worker 

C. A simulated practice observation using role play scenarios with actors. This will 

include a written assessment component 

3.33 The Council set a target of enabling between 20-30% of Children and Families social 

workers to undertake the assessment in the first year (2019-2020), which equated to 

between 31and 47 social workers. By March 2020 41 social workers had completed the 

assessment, which meant that the target was successfully met. However, this year 

assessment centres have been paused due to Covid but will reopen again in June 2021.  

3.34 The Quality Assurance Framework for Children’s has been revised and quarterly 

meetings with key stakeholders have been set up to inform future planning. A key 

element of quality assurance in Children’s Services is practice weeks, which an 

innovative and restorative approach to audit.The Director of Children’s Services along 

with all Heads of Service, the PSW and Service Managers spend four days undertaking 

audits alongside practitioners, observing practice and sitting in teams. The advantages of 

this approach include being able to see practice rather than just read about it, being able 

to see and feel how teams are functioning and being able to offer social workers 

immediate feedback on their practice. Practice weeks have been well received and 

employees report enjoying the immediate feedback and opportunity to talk about their 

work with senior managers.  

3.35 From the start of the pandemic Children’s Services have been working flexibly and this 

has also applied to practice weeks, which have had to be delivered virtually this year. 

Observations, in particular, have been a challenge during Covid owing to limited 

opportunities to observe in a safe way and minimise risk to families and staff.  

3.36 A few of the key areas of strength, as identified through audit in practice weeks during 

2020-2021 include: 

A. Practitioners know the children and families they work with well.  

B. Direct work through the establishment of relationships is linked to sustained 

changes. 

C. Family meetings are regularly taking place increasing family resilience and helping 

to build relationships with families.  

Page 17



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

D. Social workers are considering the diverse needs of children and young people 

they are working with  

3.37 There has been a steady improvement in the quality of practice being delivered by social 

workers and this years standard audits are showing an increase in the number of files 

rated good (G) or outstanding (O) compared to last year and a reduction in those rated 

requires improvement (RI) or inadequate (I): 

Audit Period  Total 
rated 

Good or 
higher 

Total rated 
Requires 

Improvement 
or lower 

2019-2020 57% 43% 

2020- 2021 
72% 28% 

 

3.38  The PSW has continued to provided leadership, mentoring and coaching to six full time 

equivalent Advanced Practitioners appointed in Children’s Services. Advanced 

practitioners play a key role in embedding good practice across the service and provide 

practical support to newly qualified social workers, this could for instance be by attending 

complex meetings with them, modelling good practice and helping them write good 

assessment and plans. The Advanced Practitioners also contribute to quality assurance 

and have completed dip sampling which informs future training needs.   

3.39 Advanced practitioners have also delivered training to all social workers on key themes 

linked to the 2020-2021 Practice Improvement Plan such as: 

A. Genograms workshops have been delivered to the majority of teams. Feedback 

has been positive and the aim is to implement this approach in reflective practice 

sessions 

B. Family meeting workshops every quarter with over 40 social workers having 

received this training this year and more planned for next year 

3.40  Children’s Services have an updated improvement plan for 2021-2022, Making a 

Difference: Aiming for Excellence in Social Work Practice, which will be utilised as a tool 

to support Children’s Service’s continuing improvement journey from good to 

outstanding. The plan will be reviewed regularly by colleagues across the service at a 

range of leadership tiers. 

3.41   Workforce 

3.42  There is evidence in the UK of a shortage of experienced social workers (Research in 

Practice, 2015) with Social Work featuring on the national occupation shortage list since 

2014. A Department for Education (DfE) study of Children and Family social workers in 

Page 18



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

2019 identified that within two-three years of qualifying social workers become 

dissatisfied and report feelings of increased stress.  

3.43  Social work is challenged by high turnover and vacancy rates and a heavy reliance on 

agency staff. The Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and Skills 

(Ofsted, 2016) state that “good” local authorities have a “workforce that is sufficient, 

stable, suitably qualified and competent to deliver high-quality services to children and 

their families”. 

3.44  The Principal Social Worker continues to lead on the development and delivery of a 

Recruitment and Retention plan with colleagues from Human Resources, Organisational 

Development and the Communications Team. The plan delivers a rolling recruitment 

campaign for social workers, the development of promotional material including videos 

for both Adult’s and Children’s Services and retention activity focused on good 

communication between senior leaders and frontline employees, delivering a good 

workforce development offer including a clear career development pathway.  

 3.45  This year In Children’s Services the PSW has hosted a recruitment session this year for 

agency social workers and those interested in joining the City the of Wolverhampton 

Council. The pathway for continued professional development has also been launched, 

offering a clear development pathway for both children and adult social workers.     

3.46  The City of Wolverhampton Council is bucking the national trend in the recruitment and 

retention of children’s social workers. The majority of vacancies in Children’s Services 

have been created by secondments and recent analysis evidenced that there were just 

4.5 true vacant positions to be filled. In Adult’s Services the current turnover rate of social 

workers is low at 3.9% compared to 12.8% nationally (“The State of the Adults Social 

Care Sector and Workforce in England, Skills for Care October 2020). A stable workforce 

allows the Council to embed good practice and provide children, families and adults with 

consistent workers.   

3.47  The annual Social Work Health Check survey asks social workers for their views on 

working conditions and this year showed that more social workers than in previous years 

are planning to stay with City of Wolverhampton Council (CWC):  

 

90

76
70

89

61

40
68

73

0

20

40

60

80

100

2017 2018 2019 2020

% planning to stay with CWC in the next 12 
months 

Adults Childrens

Page 19



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

3.48  A key function of the PSW role is to support the training of new social workers. There are 

many routes into social work and it is important that that the City of Wolverhampton 

Council (CWC) takes a mixed economy approach to supporting the training of social 

workers in order to not only meet its own sufficiency needs but also contribute to the 

needs of the region. Programmes and initiatives that contribute to this include the West 

Midlands Social Work Teaching Partnership (WMSWTP), Step up to Social Work, 

Frontline and Degree Apprenticeships in Social Work.  

 
3.49  The WMSWTP is in its third year of delivery and is the largest in the country consisting of 

27 partners including Local Authorities, Children’s Trusts, Universities and Higher 

Education Colleges. Social Work Teaching Partnerships are a government funded 

initiative designed to enhance partnership arrangements between Higher Education 

Institutions (HEIs) and employers; attract more able students; embed the knowledge and 

skills (post qualifying standards) into academic curricula and continuing professional 

development (CPD) for existing workers; and overall raise the quality of social work 

practice. This year CWC have benefitted from participating in the WMSWTP for instance 

by being able to access a number of training/CPD sessions including Train to Teach 

opportunities, Court Skills and opportunities aimed at newly qualified social workers, such 

as considerations for working from home and Communities of Practice. The PSW 

attended “Practitioners Panel Student Welcome Week” at the University of Birmingham 

raising the profile of social work in Wolverhampton. Relationships with the universities will 

continue to be developed this coming year.   

3.50  During 2020-2021 CWC have supported 25 social work placements across Adults and 

Children’s Services, which is more than usual and 15 new Practice Educators were 

recruited. Given the significant challenges Universities and social work teams faced due 

to Covid, this shows the local commitment and drive for supporting the next generation of 

social workers. Four final year students have gone on to secure permanent newly 

qualified posts with CWC.  

3.51 Step up to Social Work and Frontline are post graduate fast track social work 

programmes for people interested in the profession who have a 2.2 Honours Degree or 

above. Step up to Social Work is co-ordinated regionally and is delivered in partnership 

with the University of Birmingham. It is a 14-month condensed course. CWC has been 

providing placements for four Step Up students, who are on track to become qualified in 

May/June 2021 and will be employed as Newly Qualified Social workers from date of 

registration. Another cohort of Step Up students is currently being recruited and CWC 

have provisionally requested another four students.  

3.52  Frontline is a fast-track training scheme for social workers in child protection, which aims 

to attract outstanding graduates who may not previously have considered a career in 

social work. Participants complete most of their theoretical training whilst in social work 

placements, this allows them to transfer their learning into practice immediately. 

Participants are supported by a dedicated consultant social worker and a tutor who 

Page 20



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

delivers theoretical training within the workplace. The PSW has worked collaboratively 

with Frontline to establish two Frontline units each having four participants, one 

consultant social worker and one deputy consultant social worker. There have been four 

cohorts, starting in 2017 and in total 20 have been through the programme or are 

currently on it. In 2020 three students moved into newly qualified social work positions 

with CWC. There are currently two students on the programme who started in September 

2020 and who will move into newly qualified roles from August 2021.  

3.53  The new level six Degree Apprenticeship in Social Work was agreed in December 2018. 

It provides an exciting opportunity for existing social care employees to undertake a 

social work degree whilst remaining in full time employment. CWC currently have eight 

apprentices across adults and children’s services and will be recruiting a further four in 

2021-2022. 

3.54  The City of Wolverhampton Council (CWC) undertakes a full Social Work Health Check 

every year to assess the “health” of its social work workforce. The National Social Work 

Task Force recommended a framework to assist employers and practitioners to assess 

the “health” of their organisation on a range of issues affecting the workload of social 

workers and to support the implementation of a set of national Standards for Employers 

and Supervision Framework. It is recognised that good practice carried out by a “healthy” 

and motivated workforce can lead to improved outcomes for people and families as well 

as reduced demand and costs. The social work Health Check carried out in October 

2020 identified a number of key themes: 

A. Social work is a notoriously demanding profession, and, by its very nature, the role 

carries a certain level of stress and this came through in both the Adult’s and 

Children’s survey. However, although stress levels rose slightly compared with last 

year most likely because of the challenges that Covid-19 has posed, they remain 

below the levels recorded in previous years. 

 

B. Social workers generally felt well supported by their line manager and felt that 

communication between senior managers and frontline staff is good. 

 

C. There has been an improvement in the frequency of supervision and the vast 

majority receive regular, high quality supervision 

 

D. The number of people who felt proud to work the CWC had increased on previous 

years 

 

3.55  Action plans have been developed for both Children’s and Adult Services to address any 
issues identified.  

 
3.56  Professional Standards and Practice development  

3.57  This year the new Social Work regulator Social Work England required all social workers 

to record some evidence of Continuing Professional Development (CPD) by November 

Page 21



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

2020 in order to renew their registration to practice as a social worker. One of the key 

roles of the PSW alongside Organisational Development was to support all social 

workers to meet the re-registration requirement. The PSW acted as a conduit for 

engagement with Social Work England inviting the regional lead to speak to social 

workers directly at Social Work briefings and also at individual workshops across the 

year, with over 200 social workers attending one session held in the autumn. Social 

workers have had opportunities to access training throughout the year to evidence CPD 

and also have access to Research in Practice / Research in Practice for Adults which 

provides resources and articles to inform their practice. As of November 2020 – all social 

workers across adults and children’s services had re-registered successfully.  

3.58  The PSW leads on social work development plans for Adult and Children’s social workers 

and ensures that training opportunities are offered in line with service priorities. Covid 

initially made delivery of training more challenging as sessions had to take place virtually 

rather than face to face. However, the transition was ultimately very successful and over 

the year a wide variety of training opportunities were delivered linked to key priorities in 

adults and children’s services including continue the development of strengths based 

approaches and relational social work and also to support practice and legal literacy 

during Covid. Some examples included Mental Capacity Assessment training, including a 

focus on self-neglect, Managing Unseen Risk, Accountable and Defensible Practice in 

Challenging Times, Getting your Conversation Records write, Life Story Work, Child 

Protection Best Practice and Three Conversations© refresher workshops.  

3.59  The PSW arranges three separate Children’s and Adult’s social work briefings a year that 

provide critical space for social workers to share their views with senior leaders, ensure 

important information is shared face to face with frontline social workers. The sessions 

also have a learning and development focus often chosen by social workers themselves. 

These have proved to be highly successful with social workers reporting that they are 

able to apply their learning to practice and generally state in feedback that everything 

presented is of use to their practice. This year subjects have featured sessions on 

trauma informed practice in adults, LGBT awareness, exploitation and modern slavery 

and Mental Capacity considerations during Covid and legal updates. 

3.60  The joint Adults and Children’s Social Work Conference took place virtually in October 

2020 on the theme of Safeguarding. It featured a keynote speech by Clenton 

Farquharson MBE, who describes himself as a disabled person with lived experience of 

health and social care, Chair of the Think Local Act Personal partnership board, and 

member of the Coalition for Collaborative Care. A second keynote was presented by 

Luke Hart from Co•co Awareness who, with his brother, share their family’s story of 

coercive control and domestic homicide. Social workers also shared stories from their 

practice and a number of workshops were delivered including: Societal Context of Men’s 

Violence Against Women; the Impact of Trauma on development and how this relates to 

adults and children’s social care and Transitional Safeguarding 

Page 22



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

3.61  Over  240 social workers attended the joint conference and feedback was 

overwhelmingly positive. Some comments included:  

A. “This is one of the best Social Work Conference we have had…One of the core 

principles of learning is sometimes learning and receiving information from people 

who have lived experiences and that is what has been significant in today’s 

conference. Thank you” 

B. “3 of the best contributor speeches we have ever had at SW conference” 

C. “Well Done, all the speakers we have had today are of such high calibre and so 

knowledgeable.” 

3.62  This year’s Social Work Health Check surveys showed that more social workers this year 

across Children’s and Adult’s Services feel satisfied with the learning opportunities 

available to them:  

 

 
3.63 Raising the profile of social work and connecting with practice 

3.64 This year the PSWs and team have continued to celebrate good practice in monthly 

newsletters and raised the profile of the profession by recognising key events such as 

World Social Work Day. The PSW also represented the council by co-hosting a session 

at Social Work England’s first Social Work Week in March 2021. The session was called 

“Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: A Wolverhampton Perspective” and showcased a video 

created locally (Equality, diversity and inclusion - A Wolverhampton Perspective. – 

YouTube).  Over 130 people attended from across the country including people with lived 

experience, social work students, professionals, academics and anyone with an interest 

in social work. Feedback was overwhelmingly positive: 

A. “Thank you there was so much in this to take away and reflect on. Well done!” 

B. “Fantastic, so moving, couldn't be prouder…Well done Wolverhampton” 

52

54

57

7465

51

64

76

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

2017 2018 2019 2020

% satisfied with learning opportunties  

Adults Childrens

Page 23

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rZRODuFWvCg
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rZRODuFWvCg


This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

C. “Lovely work you are doing Wolverhampton” 

3.65    In March 2021, a social work blog “Remembering to be kind to yourself when caring for 

others” was produced and published by the Department of Education on their website to 

highlight importance of well-being and self-care  in social work 

3.66 The PSWs have continued to work closely with social workers connecting with practice 

and being the voice of social work for the city. In the Peer Challenge Practice Review 

(September 2020) for example practitioners said they were aware of the host PSW and 

said she had been a presence undertaking drop-ins, delivering training and delivering 

virtual workshops. Practitioners said that they knew she was available which was “really 

re-assuring”. 

3.67 Challenging inequality 

3.68  Equalities has been a central focus this year with the creation and delivery of cultural 

competence workshops by the Advanced Practitioners. To date there have been five full 

day training sessions delivered to over 100 practitioners across Children’s and Adult’s 

services. Practitioners have reported that workshops have helped them to self-reflect on 

their own cultural competency. There have also been discussions in equalities 

champions meetings and the aim is to begin to disseminate tools/articles/resources for 

champions to present at their team meetings.  

3.69  There has been dedicated time at social work briefings this year to reflect on inequalities 

and the Black Lives Matter movement. Equality and diversity is also a standard agenda 

item at all team meetings and is discussed within supervisions.  

3.70  The PSWs commissioned anti-racist practice training from the British Association of 

Social Workers (BASW) in January 2021 with 205 social workers attending from across 

Adults and Children’s Service.  

3.71  The PSW has supported Heads of Service in the creation of Service Equality Plans in 

Adults with a particular focus on making sure the workforce is skilled and confident to 

have good conversations about people’s uniqueness in the collection of equality 

monitoring data. The PSW will also be supporting Children’s Services with this in 2021-

2022.  

3.72  In Children’s Services the PSW has been an active part of the Practitioner’s Forum on 

race and culture. 

3.73  From April 2021 the PSW became a lead ally and will be supporting the Rainbow staff 

equality and diversity forum this coming year 

4.0  Key priorities for PSW work plan 2021-22 

4.1   As well as the priorities already mentioned in this report the PSW will continue to ensure 

that the social work development plan incorporates a good development offer for social 

workers that enables them to continue to develop their practice whilst still not yet being 

Page 24



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

able to access face to face training. It is imperative that social workers are highly skilled 

as it is known that good social work intervention can reduce the risk of children needing 

to be received into care and can enable adults with care and support needs to remain or 

become as independent as possible. It also ensures that council resources are being 

used appropriately and effectively. 

4.2  The PSW will continue to provide leadership, mentoring and coaching to the six (FTE) 

Advanced Social Work Practitioners in Children’s Services.  The focus of this work will be 

to support the ongoing improvement of frontline social work practice. Advanced 

Practitioners will assist with the service’s journey towards excellence in social work 

practice and the transition from being a “good” rated local authority to an “outstanding” 

one. The PSW will oversee and lead all quality assurance activity and develop the 

“Aiming for Excellence Plan” in Children’s Services and Adults.  

4.3  There will be continued local delivery of the NAAS and the PSW will play a key role in the 

ongoing embedding of Restorative Practice across Children’s Services and introducing 

this in Adult Services by end of the year to enhance the Three Conversations© approach 

and strengths-based practice. There will be a particular focus on the use of restorative 

language.  

4.4 The PSW will ensure that issues relating to tackling inequality for all groups of people 

with protected characteristics continues to be incorporated into social work development 

plans and will ensure social workers are exposed to the voices of people with lived 

experiences to better inform their practice and approaches. The PSW, as lead ally, will 

promote the leadership equality pledges, support EDI strategy (including being visible 

and active in forums and EDI events), and actively challenge where needed. The theme 

for this coming year’s Joint conference will be: “Celebrating Diversity: Tackling 

Inequality”. 

4.5  A key priority for the PSW for 2021-2022 in conjunction with other leads within the 

council will be to ensure the social work workforce is prepared for the introduction of the 

Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS) by April 2022. This will replace the current 

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) scheme. The introduction of this was delayed 

due to Covid.  

4.6  As previously mentioned, the PSW will ensure mechanisms are in place to support social 

work wellbeing during Covid (and post Covid), this includes the production of a wellbeing 

framework, as recommended by the 2020 Local Government Association’s Standards for 

employers of Social Workers. 

4.7      The PSW will continue to take lead responsibility along with Human Resources and 

Workforce Development for the implementation of the recruitment and retention plan to 

support a mixed economy of routes into social work and strengthen current recruitment 

activity, ensuring the council is able to meet demand and supply needs now and for the 

future. The plan will also build on existing strategies and explore new ways to retain 

social workers to ensure social workers see the council as a place where they can 

Page 25



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

develop their practice and career and feel valued, trusted and proud, an example of this 

is a celebration event for those who have completed their Assessed and Supported Year 

in Employment (ASYE) and Practice Educator training later in the year 

4.8 The PSW’s Quality and Improvement team will continue to support with the annual Social 

Work Health Check, seeking feedback from the workforce to increase response rates, 

and take the lead on sector-led improvement activity and inspections. 

4.9  The PSW will continue to support a range of engagement activities between the Directors 

for Adults and Children’s Services and social workers but will explore different ways to 

communicate and interact with social work teams this year, including digital solutions.  

4.10  The PSW will meet monthly with Heads of Service and Deputy Directors to ensure 

operational engagement and oversight. 

4.11 The PSW will also play a key role in the redesign of Adult’s Social Care in 2021-2022, 

providing independence challenge and assurance in relation to social work and any 

changes to the practice model.   

4.12   There will also be a role for the PSW to ensure social workers are kept informed about, 

and have a chance to engage with, the Independent Review of Children’s Social Care, 

which is now underway. This is a national review which will have significant implications 

for Children’s Social Care. It is being called a once-in-a-generation opportunity to reform 

systems and services. The review will report to ministers and the government will publish 

a report and response. 

4.13 It is important that the PSW continues to maintain a presence in national PSW forums. 

These meetings are learning and development opportunities and provides opportunity for 

the Chief Social Workers for Adults and Children to share the direction of travel, answer 

questions and receive feedback from PSW’s. These events also provide opportunity for 

the sharing of good practice.  

4.14  The PSW also attends regional network meeting on a bi-monthly basis.  This allows 

regional work to take place as directed by the regional West Midlands Association of 

Directors of Children’s Services and the Association of Directors of Adults Services. The 

PSW will also continue to on the strategic board for the Regional West Midlands Social 

Work Teaching Partnership and will be facilitating quarterly meetings with the University 

of Wolverhampton and Heads of Service. 

 
5.0     Evaluation of alternative options 

5.1  This report highlights the impact on the service, city and residents that the PSW role can 

bring including ensuring quality of good social work practice and improved outcomes for 

people. There is evidence that this role has a positive impact on the profession and the 

people being supported across Adult and Children’s Services.  

Page 26



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

5.2     There is an option of not having a PSW, but it needs to be noted that the PSW role in     

adults is set out in statutory guidance. Without a PSW there could be a decline in quality 

of practice which would affect the lives of those children, young people and adults who 

seek social care support.   

6.0     Reasons for decision  

6.1  The role of the PSW contributes to a number of key priorities across Children’s and  

Adults Services including Restorative Practice and Three Conversations© which are 

approaches and models that enable social workers to build professional relationships 

with people who need services that help and promote a strength-based approach to their 

practice. These approaches enable the workforce to strengthen families where children 

are at risk, promote the independence of older people and people with disabilities as well 

safeguarding people in vulnerable situations.  

6.2     The PSW provides dedicated resource to the recruitment and retention strategy which in 

turn helps the Council reduce the spend on agency. The role is also responsible for 

raising the profile of social work in the City which also contributes to making the City of 

Wolverhampton a social work employer of choice.  

6.3      The role also provides the professional knowledge required to drive local and regional 

workforce development plan that will contribute to high quality, excellent practice and 

assist the journey from a good to outstanding Ofsted rating. 

7.0      Financial implications 

7.1  There are no direct financial implications arising directly from this report.  Any costs            

arising from the actions in the workplan and priorities set by the PSW will be met from 

existing budgets. [MK/01072021/U] 

8.0     Legal implications 

8.1     There are no direct legal implications arising out of this report. 

[SB/11062021/Z] 

 

9.0 Equalities implications 

9.1  Social workers provide support to the whole community covering all the protected 

characteristics. One of the key roles of the Principal Social Worker is to support the 

continual improvement of social work practice. Excellent quality social work practice is 

more attuned to the equality issues experienced by individuals, families and 

communities. This annual report highlights the actions being taken to ensure that 

Children’s and Adults Service and social work practice generally is of a high quality and 

being supported to consider and tackle inequalities for all groups. The PSW will continue 

to ensure that issues relating to inequality for all groups of people with protected 

characteristics is well incorporated unto the social work development plan for 2021-2022 

and also considered as part of recruitment and retention activity. 

Page 27



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

10.0   All other Implications 

10.1  There are no human resources implications. However, it is noted that close collaborative 

working has taken place over the last year on the implementation of the recruitment and 

retention strategy and action plan.  This includes back office support and attendance at 

Social Worker interviews and recruitment campaigns. 

10.2   Good social work practice will support the health and wellbeing of children, young people 

and adults who access services. The PSW has a key role in supporting the wellbeing of 

social workers and this has been highlighted in this report.  

11.0   Schedule of background papers 

11.1  There are no background papers for this report. 

 

Page 28



Mandatory Vaccination 
Plan

Adults and Safer Communities Scrutiny Panel

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 N
o: 7



Consultation Outcome

P
age 30



Key Consultation Outcome to note - 

P
age 31



Current situation – Care Homes

• 500 unvaccinated care home staff - 350 have refused.
• c.2500 care home staff work in Wolverhampton 
• 23 (out of 72) Care Homes have less than 80% vaccination rates for staff 
• There are 1746 residents in Wolverhampton 1611 are vaccinated (92%)
• Contact made with all care homes with <50% of staff vaccinated.  Where a reason was 
identified:
• 5% due to recently having Covid and needing to wait 28 days
• 5% based on medical advice – pregnancy/allergies etc
• 53% were outright refusals
• 37% were undecided

• Of the ‘outright refusals’ the following were the most frequent reasons given:
• Concerns about the impact on fertility
• Lack of trust/conspiracy theories/lack of knowledge
• Family members have advised them not to have it
• Some are waiting to see impact/effectiveness/side effects

P
age 32



Potential Impact on CWC and Care Market 
• Risk at least a further 5% reduction in care home staff supply, on top of an 
already fragile care market

• Regionally this is more likely in local areas with high concentrations of retail and 
hospitality services. 

• Movements of staff returning to these sectors, worryingly away from domiciliary 
care in particular (where, in general terms, we saw a temporary positive growth 
during the pandemic), as lockdown measures are eased.

• Increased costs – specifically hourly rate and agency costs if fewer staff in the 
market

• Frontline staff including social workers, therapists and quality teams will have to 
be vaccinated to carry out their business as usual

• Possible lengthy HR and legal processes to follow

P
age 33



Actions so far
• Communication to all care providers 
• Mapping of Care Homes 
• Agreement with Vaccination Bus to use care home route
• Initial programme meeting with Public Health, Adults, HR and Health to plan next steps
• Regular email communications with providers to publicise local and national vaccination 
offer, access and support information/events

• Continued access to local vaccination sites
• Telephone contact with individual providers with low uptake

• Accuracy of current reported figure for staff who have received first COVID 
vaccination

• Remaining barriers to uptake
• Actions already taken to promote uptake
• Risk assessments in place for staff who have not received the vaccination

P
age 34



Actions continued
• Site visit by Quality & Safety nurse to one of providers contacted by DHSC to speak to hesitant staff 
directly

• Vaccine take-up data shared with Clinical Leads and PCNs to assist with targeted support as part of 
their role in vaccine rollout

• Collaborative work with Public Health colleagues, including their attendance at Provider forums
• Specific, briefings on high-profile risks and themes eg a fertility focussed Q&A shared with all care 
providers and staff encouraged to attend briefings

• Good practice identified and shared across the sector.
• Financial support has been provided by CWC to allow staff to be paid to attend their vaccination 
• Regular monitoring and reporting of uptake through the SitRep and Capacity Tracker
• Request made to providers to review business continuity and contingency arrangements ahead of 
any legislation changes affecting older people care homes

• Promotion of risk assessment for unvaccinated staff in line with expectations advised by CQC

P
age 35



June/July

• Communicate 
guidance / Govt 
announcement

• Supportive comms, 
but clear message 
of expectation. To 
include agencies

• Provider Calls Online 
Sessions

• Mapping/analysis of 
uptake by care home 
and location Promote 
mobile vaccine unit

• Contact Centre 
promotion

• Develop 4 month 
plan with Adults / PH 
/ HR / Equalities and 
Unions 

• One plan with Health 

July/August

• Request data 
collation of 
outstanding staff i.e. 
number outstanding, 
number refusing, 
redeployment 
options

• care home plans 
refreshed in event of 
business continuity 
issues

• Analysis of impact 
and recruitment 
plans if needed

• Mid way report to 
SEB on expected 
impact and actions

• Member update 

August/Sept.

• Mapping of care 
homes at risk

• Understanding 
real risk to care 
market

• Possibly staff loss 
implications

• Update to SEB on 
progress and 
business 
continuity risks/HR 
& Equality 
outcomes 

Sept./Oct

• Final Vaccination 
numbers

• Business 
continuity plans 
updated for 
commissioned 
care

• HR outcomes for 
CWC staff 
refusing 
vaccination* 

Timeline - Mandatory vaccine for care homes staff

Unknown factors: Exemption criteria, vaccine evidence requirement and *any legal challenge 

P
age 36



Programme Governance 

SEB

Internal Care 
Chair: Tom Denham

Responsible for all internal provision and operational 
staff  

Weekly / biweekly meeting including HR & Union engagement 

Commissioned Care
Chair: Alicia Wood

Responsible for all commissioned providers
Weekly/Bi weekly to involve provider support forum / WMCAssoc. 

Adults IMT
Chair: Becky Wilkinson 

Responsible for overall plan and SEB reporting 
Weekly / bi-weekly touchdown to include PH, HR, Equalities, Internal 

and Commissioned Care . Reports to Emma Bennett and SEB 

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 

Scrutiny Work Programme (draft) 

Adults and Safer City Scrutiny Panel 2021-2022  

 

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 N
o: 8



 

2 
 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
 

Contents 
 

Page Number 

Scrutiny – New Approach 
 

3 

Work Programme considerations 
 

4 

Adults and Safer City Scrutiny Panel draft work programme 
 

5 

Scrutiny Panel Remit & Functions 

 
7 

General Role of the Scrutiny Board and Scrutiny Panels  
 

8 

Appendix A: Roles – Chair, SEB Lead and Scrutiny Officer 
 

9 

 
  

P
age 40



 

3 
 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Scrutiny – A New Approach  
 

 
1. Roles and expectations have been defined for the Chairs of Scrutiny Panels, Strategic Executive 

Board (SEB) leads and Scrutiny Officers; creating a collective understanding of scrutiny’s role within 
the Council.  These can be seen in Appendix A. 
 

2. Effective work planning and agenda setting will take place to produce jointly owned work 
plans.   
 

3. Regular briefings will be arranged with the Scrutiny Panel Chair, Vice Chair, SEB lead and scrutiny 
officer to enabe a shared understanding of priorities and reviews of progress and 
reccommendations. 
 

4. Improved communication:  ‘You said we did’ updates and publicity (including social media) 
 

5. Creation of a strong organisational culture that supports scrutiny work that adds real value and 
evidences impact. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 41



 

4 
 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Work Programme considerations: 

 
1. Is the issue in the public interest? 
 
2. How can scrutiny add value by looking at it? 
 
3. Where is the evidence to support looking at this issue? 

 
4. Can we evidence impact? 
 
5. Is there a change to National Policy? 
 
6. Does it affect citizens across the City? 
 
7. Are there performance concerns? 
 
8. Is it a safety issue? 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 42



 

5 
 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 

Adults and Safer City Scrutiny Panel   
 

Chair: Cllr Val Evans  
  

Vice Chair: Cllr Sohail Khan  
 

SEB Lead: Emma Bennett  
  

Scrutiny Lead: Earl Piggott-
Smith  
  

  
  

Date of   
Meeting  
  

Agenda 
Publication  

Item Description  Lead Report 
Author  
  

Council Plan 
Priority  
 

Strong, resilient 
and healthy 
communities 
 

 

Notes  

20 July 2021 12 July 
2021 

 Principal Social 

Worker Annual 

Report 

 

 Mandatory 

Vaccinations for 

Social Care Homes  

Jenny Rogers 
 
 
 
 
Becky Wilkinson 

  

 

 

 

outline of plans for implementing 
programme and timeline  
 

 

19 October 
2021 

11 October 
2021 

 Domestic Abuse Act 

2021 – update on 

implementation 

 

 Safer Wolverhampton 

Partnership Board – 

update   

 

Hannah Pawley 
 
 
 
Hannah Pawley 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 43



 

6 
 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 Best practice update 

on CHANNEL 

guidance 

 

 Adult Social Care 

Annual Report - 

Wolverhampton  

Local Account  

 
Hannah Pawley 
 
 
 
Becky Wilkinson 
 

 
 
 
 
 
The report will detail progress  
made during the previous 12 months, 
identifying key achievements and 
challenges and priorities for the year 
ahead. 

15 February 
2022  

7 February 
2022 

 Care and Support 

Provider Fee Review 

2021 - 2022 and 

Market Sustainability 

 

 Social Isolation 

among older people 

in the community and 

care homes 

Alicia Woods 
 
 
 
 
Becky 
Wilkinson/Sandra 
Ashton-Jones 
and Tom 
Denham 
 

 Invite Care Providers to the meeting 
 
 
 
 
Invite Champion for Councillor 
Development and Information 
Technology - Cllr Jaspreet Jaspal to 
brief panel and Ian Darch WVSC 

 
Future items 

1. Headlines from Self Assessment – Becky Wilkinson - date tbc 

2. Brieifing on Assisted Techologies Strategy - date tbc 

3. Heather Clarke to share briefing paper on digital inclusion work with a focus on support for older people and care home 

residents with the panel when published. 

4. Adult Social Work Health Check 2020 - date tbc 

5. Adult Social Care Workforce Health Check 2020 - date tbc 
 

 

P
age 44



 

7 
 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 

 

 

Scrutiny Panel Remit & Functions 

 
Adults and Safer City Scrutiny Panel    
   
The scrutiny of services for older and vulnerable adults, local safeguarding arrangements for adults and crime and disorder in the 
city.    

     

Specific responsibilities   
  
The Panel will have responsibility for scrutiny functions as they relate to:   
   

 Older people assessment and care management  
 Financial support services   
 Libraries and community hubs   
 Independent living centre  
 Commissioning older people   
 Carers support  
 All age disabilities (disabilities)   
 All age disability (provision)   
 Safeguarding and quality   
 Community safety   

  
  
  

P
age 45



 

8 
 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

General Role of the Scrutiny Board and Scrutiny Panels  
  
Within the terms of reference set out in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules, the Scrutiny Board will:  
  

1. Co-ordinate the work of the Scrutiny Panels and Scrutiny Review Groups.  
  

2. Receive annual reports from the Councillor Champion and give consideration to the work undertaken and issues that the 
Councillor Champion wishes scrutiny to consider investigating further.  

  
3. Maintain regular dialogue with the Cabinet on service improvement, performance management of cross-cutting issues, policy 

development and budgetary provision.  
  

4. Oversee and ensure access to appropriate learning and development for scrutiny Councillors.  
  

5. Discharge the call-in procedures relevant to its overarching role.  
  

  

The Scrutiny Panels will:  
  

1. Maintain regular dialogue with the Cabinet, Scrutiny Board and Councillor Champions.  
 

2. Ensure that members of the public and stakeholders are informed of and involved in issues within the remit of each Panel.  
  

3. Discharge the call-in procedure relevant to their terms of reference.  

 
 

 

  

P
age 46



 

9 
 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Appendix A: Roles and Responsibilities 

1. Chair of Scrutiny Panel:  
 To attend fortnightly meetings with the SEB lead and Scrutiny Officer 
 To attend agenda setting meetings and other relevant briefings on a regular basis 
 To contribute to the work planning for the panel and to bring forward relevant topics and issues for inclusion 
 To chair meetings in a fair and open way and to encourage participation from panel members 
 To attend Scrutiny Board (where appropriate) to provide feedback and updates on progress 
 To prepare, when possible, questions in advance of a meeting to allow for healthy debate and to ensure that clear 

resolutions are made that add value and show impact 
 To act as champion for scrutiny and to represent the best interests of the citizens of Wolverhampton 

2. SEB Lead:  
 Meet with the Chair, the Vice Chair and the Scrutiny Officer fortnightly to discuss upcoming issues, updates from 

previous meetings, workplans and any other relevant business as agreed by all parties.  
 Recommend topics for inclusion on the workplan, working proactively with the Chair, Vice Chair and Scrutiny Officer to 

address any issues/opportunities/challenges that fit with the remit of the panel.  
 To advise on the viability of any issues put forward by the panel for inclusion on the work plan. 
 To attend relevant Scrutiny Panel meetings and provide an update at each meeting on any relevant issues within the 

remit of the panel.  Also, attending Scrutiny Board (as appropriate) to provide feedback. 
 To act as a champion for scrutiny in the Council and to encourage engagement with the scrutiny function and promote 

a healthy culture within which scrutiny can thrive 
3. Scrutiny Officer:  

 Provide support and guidance to the panel, its members, officers, partners and other stakeholders regarding the 
scrutiny function 

 To ensure openness and transparency in the scrutiny function and to make sure that information is continuously 
shared and communicated between all relevant parties in a timely and suitable fashion 

 To ensure that the appropriate persons are invited to meetings and that they are given adequate time to prepare and to 
provide guidance and support where appropriate 

 To manage the administration of all relevant panels and meetings within statutory timescales 
 To carry out research and information gathering exercises when required 
 To provide advice on policy and legislation where appropriate 
 To ensure that all resolutions are followed up and responses or actions fed back, monitored and recorded 
 To act as liaison between the Chair and the SEB lead to ensure a shared understanding of priorities and work 

planning.  
 To manage the agreed work plan and its outcomes to show impact and added value 

P
age 47



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of previous meeting
	6 Principal Social Worker Annual Report 2020 - 2021
	7 Mandatory Vaccinations for Social Care Homes
	8 Adults and Safer City Scrutiny Panel 2021-2022 Draft Work Programme

